RECEIVED

Jan 25 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lancaster County

Honorable Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DAVID LOUIS HAYDEN,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-001459

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BREEN RICHARD STEVENS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court reversibly erred by preventing Appellant from impeaching his accuser's (Minor) credibility with evidence of another case involving Minor regarding a false accusation of sexual assault, where witness credibility was central to Appellant's case, yet where the trial court deemed the impeachment evidence irrelevant because it occurred subsequent to the facts of the present case?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant David Louis Hayden was indicted on January 20, 2022, by the Lancaster County Grand jury for criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree (CSCM 1st), and on March 31, 2022 for trafficking in persons under 18 years of age, 1st offense, and contributing to the delinquency of a minor. R. 554-559. The case proceeded to trial from October 10th through 13th, 2022, before the Honorable Paul M. Burch and a jury.¹ R. 1; R. 469. Appellant was represented by William Frick, while Heather Weiss and Jerrod Fussnecker represented the State. R. 1.

Appellant was ultimately found guilty on all counts. R. 539, l. 20—R. 540, l. 7; R. 541, l. 18—R. 543, l. 1. Life Without Parole (LWOP) notice had previously been served upon Appellant. R. 543, ll. 2-8; R. 549, l. 10—R. 550, l. 2. Accordingly, the trial court imposed concurrent sentences of LWOP for CSCM 1st; LWOP for trafficking in persons under 18 years of age, 1st offense, and three (3) years for contributing to the delinquency of a minor. R. 552, ll. 8-18.

¹ The CSCM 1st charge was a bifurcated trial. By agreement of the parties, the jury would determine all elements of CSCM 1st alleged except for whether the incident occurred while Appellant was on the sex offender registry; it was agreed by the parties that this fact would be determined by the trial court. R. 276, l. 25—R. 278, l. 19; R. 541 l. 18—R. 543, l. 1.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only and is bound by the factual findings of the trial court unless clearly erroneous.” State v. Page, 406 S.C. 272, 282, 750 S.E.2d 623, 628 (Ct. App. 2013) (citing State v. Halcomb, 382 S.C. 432, 438–39, 676 S.E.2d 149, 152 (Ct. App. 2009)). “Thus, the role of the appellate court is limited to determining whether the trial court abused its discretion.” Id. “An abuse of discretion arises from an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support.” Id. (quoting State v. Lyles, 379 S.C. 328, 334, 665 S.E.2d 201, 204 (Ct. App. 2008)).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Minor was a teenager in DSS custody living at a girls' group home in Lancaster, South Carolina, in March 2020. On the evening of Friday, March 13th, she ran away after having a bad conversation on the telephone with her brother. Dressed in basketball shorts, a t-shirt, and a hoodie sweatshirt, Minor walked across town and ultimately slept on the steps of a church. R. 81, l. 16—R. 82, l. 4; R. 85, l. 1—R. 88, l. 25; R. 92, l. 8—R. 93 l.11. She continued walking the next morning until a green SUV approached her, and the driver² asked if she needed a ride. According to Minor, she declined, but the vehicle returned, and this time the driver allegedly asked if she wanted to “smoke weed.” Minor claimed she got in, and as they drove they purportedly smoked marijuana, and Minor ingested cocaine. R. 94, ll. 4-13; R. 96, l. 8—R. 100, l. 12. Once the vehicle stopped in a tree-lined alley, the two allegedly had sex. R. 100, l. 13—R. 101, l.4. Minor was taken to an empty home,³ and left there with beer and cigarettes. R. 105, l. 21—R. 106, l. 25. When she awoke later, the driver brought her a sandwich, and took her to a trailer on Logging Road. R. 107, l. 20—R. 108, l. 9; R. 110, ll. 4-23.

At the trailer, Minor stated the driver again dropped her off, and she consumed beer and cigarettes that were present. R. 120, l. 23—R. 122, l. 21. Sometime later, the driver returned to the trailer with one of his brothers—Christopher Hayden (Chris). Minor alleged that driver again had sex with her, and later more men arrived with whom she claimed she also had sex in return for money. Two of the men she claimed to have had sex with included Appellant's brothers—

² Minor identified Appellant in a photograph line-up as the person who picked her up only after first picking another photograph of a different person in the same line-up. R. 127, l. 19—R. 128 l. 4; R. 173, l. 23—R. 175, l. 25; R. 380, ll. 14-16; R. 381, l. 20—R. 382, l. 7.

³ Although frequently termed “abandoned” during trial, the lead investigator acknowledged the home was actually occupied by the time police went to the property in July 2020. R. 423, l. 23—R. 424, l. 25.

Chris and Michael Hayden (Michael). R. 125, l. 1—R. 138, l. 25. Minor indicated she was awoken early the next day, driven down the road by Appellant and Chris, and dropped off on the roadside within a few minutes' walk to the nearest gas station. R. 140, l. 17—R. 141, l. 13; R. 146, l. 15—R. 148, l. 4. After buying items at the gas station, Minor continued to walk until she was offered another ride by Gary Watkins (Watkins) and his wife in the early afternoon of March 16, 2020. R. 148, l. 25—R. 149, l. 25; R. 280, l. 5—R. 281, l. 7; R. 283, ll. 13-14. Watkins drove her to the Jefferson Food Mart, bought her food, and called the police. R. 150, l. 1—R. 151, l. 3; R. 284, l. 10—R. 285, l. 25. Minor was taken by the Chesterfield County sheriff's office to the county line where an officer from the Lancaster police department took custody of her. R. 151, ll. 18-21; R. 268, ll. 5-25; R. 271, ll. 11-19; R. 222, l. 6—R. 224, l. 16. She was then taken to the girls' home but denied readmission due to her condition. EMS arrived and took Minor to the hospital where she was treated, and then later moved to Palmetto Lowcountry Behavioral Health.⁴ R. 151, l. 23—R. 153, l. 3; R. 224, l. 17—R. 225, l. 12; R. 227, ll. 2-12; R. 259, l. 21—R. 260, l. 25; R. 316, l. 12—R. 317, l. 1.

Appellant was arrested on June 4, 2020. He eventually spoke with police, and acknowledged *inter alia* that he picked up Minor the morning of March 14th. R. 323, l. 13—R. 324, l. 7; R. 327, ll. 20-24; R. 331, l. 17—R. 332, l. 6; R. 384, l. 23—R. 385, l. 8; R. 387, ll. 18-24; R. 391, ll. 20-23; R. 393, ll. 20-22.

When Appellant's case proceeded to trial, trial counsel (Counsel) sought admission of allegations of sexual assault by Minor against others occurring both before and after the present incident. R. 29, ll. 11-13; R. 30, l. 22—R.31, l. 17. The first incident occurred in Summerville,

⁴ No rape kit was utilized to collect potential evidence in the case. R. 263, l. 25—R. 264, l. 18; R. 479, ll. 19-25.

South Carolina in several years before the present case, wherein Minor accused her adoptive father of attempting to sexually abuse her while he was in his underwear, and she was in her bed. The allegations in that instance arose after Minor ran away, was in a hospital, and did not want to come home. R. 38, l. 5—R. 39, l. 21; R. 49, l. 8—R. 52, l. 10. After several months, the family was notified by the Department of Social Services that the charges were false. R. 40, ll. 1-4; R. 52, l. 21—R. 53, l. 8.

The second incident about which Counsel sought to impeach Minor’s credibility was based upon an incident report from Dorchester County in 2021. Specifically, as relayed by Counsel to the trial court,⁵ Minor ran away from the Lowcountry Behavioral Health home with another girl, and the two met someone at a boat landing. When caught, the two alleged sexual assault by the person in a car on the boat ramp. However, as the matter was later investigated, Minor altered her account later to indicate the sexual encounter was consensual. R. 30, l. 22—R. 31, l. 17; R. 34, l. 24—R. 35, l. 23. Thus, Counsel asserted, “So she lied about it being assault versus a consensual act.” R. 35, ll. 16-17.

The State opposed allowing Counsel to use the information by first arguing it is excluded under the Rape Shield Statute, and specifically against the 2021 incident report by claiming it did not “believe the defense has brought sufficient facts in front of the judge and in front of the Court... to establish what happened.” R. 31, l. 23—R. 32, l. 1; R. 33, ll. 14-20. As such, the State asserted the defense failed to meet its “burden to show there was an incident. And if so, exactly what the facts were.” R. 33, ll. 18-20.

⁵ Counsel likewise offered a copy of the incident report to the trial court for its consideration. R. 34, ll. 9-12.

The trial court ruled that the second incident occurring in Summerville was not relevant:

Court: Well, Summerville, I don't see how that's relevant or should come in. We're talking about two incidents.

Counsel: Yes, sir.

Court: I'm going to allow the first one, but I think we'd be out of line with that second one if it happened after all these allegations against—

Counsel: Yes, sir—

Court: —against him.

Counsel: Yes, sir. I understand.

Court: But I don't see how it's relevant to me.

R. 36, ll. 4-17.

Chris and Michael were also charged in the case, and both testified as State witnesses at Appellant's trial. Although he acknowledged prior statements to the contrary, Chris testified at trial that he never saw Appellant have sex with Minor. R. 211, ll. 4-24. He further indicated Appellant did not tell anyone to have fun with Minor, or to pay her for others to have sex with her, or to pay Appellant for others to have sex with her. R. 212, ll. 2-10.

Michael also testified at Appellant's trial, and indicated he was intoxicated⁶ after work that night. Although he acknowledged seeing Chris at the trailer that night, he stated he did not see Appellant. R. 239, l. 3—R. 240, l. 25; R. 241, ll. 5-15. When Michael spoke with police regarding the matter, he indicated Minor tried to "grab" him, but he told her no. He further indicated he did not see anyone having sex with Minor, or paying Minor money for sex. R. 247, l. 15—R. 248, l. 5; R. 251, l. 21—R. 252, l. 3.

⁶ In Michael's own words, "I stay intoxicated." R. 239, l. 5.

After deliberations, the jury found Appellant guilty on all counts. The trial court imposed two sentences of LWOP and one of three years, all to be served concurrently. R. 552, ll. 8-18; R. 539, l. 20—R. 540, l. 7; R. 541, l. 18—R. 543, l. 1.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial court reversibly erred by preventing Appellant from impeaching his accuser's (Minor) credibility with evidence of another case involving Minor regarding a false accusation of sexual assault, where witness credibility was central to Appellant's case, yet where the trial court deemed the impeachment evidence irrelevant because it occurred subsequent to the facts of the present case.

The trial court erred by denying Appellant the right to impeach Minor's credibility with a prior instance where she made a false accusation of sexual assault. Contrary to the court's ruling that such impeachment evidence was not relevant to Appellant's case, it was crucial to the primary issue in the case—Minor's credibility. R. 77, ll. 9-17; R. 499, ll. 14-19. As such, the evidence of Minor's prior false allegations occurring before Appellant's trial was both relevant under Rule 401, and admissible under both the Rape Shield statute regardless of whether it occurred before or after the alleged conduct in the present case.

Relevance

First, the evidence sought for use to impeach Minor was relevant to Appellant's case where witness credibility was a critical issue litigated by both the State and defense. "For evidence to be admissible, it must be relevant." State v. Passio, 433 S.C. 666, 678, 861 S.E.2d 785, 791 (Ct. App. 2021) (citing Rule 402, SCRE). "Evidence is relevant if it tends to establish or to make more or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears." State v. Schmidt, 288 S.C. 301, 303, 342 S.E.2d 401, 403 (1986) (citing Assoc. Mgmt. v. E.D. Sauls Constr. Co., 279 S.C. 219, 305 S.E.2d 236 (1983)); see also Rule 401, SCRE (defining relevant evidence). Further, "[e]vidence which assists a jury at arriving at the truth of an issue is relevant and admissible unless otherwise incompetent." Id. (citing Toole v. Salter, 249 S.C. 354, 154 S.E.2d 434 (1967)); see also Rule 402, SCRE ("All relevant evidence is admissible, except as otherwise provided . . . Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible.").

Additionally, as it pertains to accusations of sexual assault, “[e]vidence of prior false accusations by a complainant may be probative on the issue of credibility.” State v. Boiter, 302 S.C. 381, 383, 396 S.E.2d 364, 365 (1990). In the present case, Counsel sought to utilize information from another allegation of sexual abuse made by Minor against a third party wherein she ran away from a facility, and claimed she was sexually assaulted by a stranger in a car. However, once investigations began, her story changed to state that her encounter was consensual. As Counsel argued, it was evidence that “she lied about it being assault versus a consensual act.” R. 35, ll. 16-17. Such information would have been probative to impeach Minor’s credibility for making false accusations to authorities when they eventually catch up to her after she runs away.

Here, the State’s primary witness was undoubtedly Minor. Minor again ran away from her group home. When authorities caught up with her, she made allegations of sexual assault. With no rape kit or other DNA evidence establishing that sexual conduct with Minor occurred with anyone either in Appellant’s vehicle or at the trailer, Minor’s testimony was the primary evidence produced by the State of any sexual acts occurring with her from March 14th through March 16th, 2020. Under such circumstances, the information contained in the Dorchester County incident report was relevant and probative to the issue of Minor’s credibility. Accordingly, the trial court erred by denying Appellant the ability to impeach Minor’s credibility with this evidence, and in so doing “precluded the jury from considering evidence that would have assisted the *jury* in arriving at the truth.” State v. Page, 406 S.C. 272, 289, 750 S.E.2d 623, 633 (Ct. App. 2013) (internal quotations and alterations omitted) (emphasis in original); see also Boiter, 302 S.C. at 383, 396 S.E.2d at 365; Rule 401, SCRE (defining relevant evidence); and 402, SCRE.

Rape Shield Statute

Although not directly addressed by the trial court in its ruling, specific instances of Minor's prior false statement regarding her sexual activities would be proper impeachment evidence under the rape shield statute as well. While generally prohibited under the rape shield statute, "[e]vidence of specific instances of sexual activity which would constitute adultery and would be admissible under rules of evidence to impeach the credibility of the witness may not be excluded." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-659.1(1). This broad exception has long been recognized in South Carolina. For example, our Supreme acknowledged as much in State v. Finley, 300 S.C. 196, 387 S.E.2d 88, (1989):

Since the proffered evidence is essential to a full and fair determination of appellant's guilt and was offered for purposes other than to attack the complainant's character by revelation of her sexual activity with a third party, we conclude that such evidence does not come within the purview of the Rape Shield Statute.

Id. 300 S.C. at 200, 387 S.E.2d at 89. As long as the purpose of using evidence or information regarding an alleged victim's other sexual activity is not for purposes of attacking her character, then it is admissible. For example, when a defendant uses evidence of the accuser's prior sexual conduct, or even his/her sexuality, for purposes of impeaching credibility, then it is not blocked by the rape shield. See, e.g., State v. Lang, 304 S.C. 300, 301, 403 S.E.2d 677, 678 (1991) ("Here, [Defendant] proposed to offer evidence concerning the victim's sexuality simply for the purpose of impeaching the victim's credibility; thus, the Rape Shield Statute had no application.").

In the case at bar, evidence of Minor's prior story in Dorchester County was not for purposes of smearing Minor's character for chastity. Rather it was to show, as Counsel asserted, that "she lied about it being assault versus a consensual act." R. 35, ll. 16-17. Simply stated, it

was offered solely for the purpose of impeaching Minor's credibility. Accordingly, such evidence and impeachment would not have run afoul of the rape shield statute.

Prejudice

Appellant was prejudiced by the trial court's erroneous ruling as well. Witness credibility was the central issue litigated in the case due to a lack of forensic evidence, such as a rape kit, semen, or DNA in locations it should never belong. During closing arguments, the State repeatedly emphasized its importance as it related to Minor's version of events, and pitted them against Appellant's statements to police. R. 479, l. 9—R. 497, l. 2. Moreover, Counsel likewise emphasized the importance of witness credibility in the case, especially as it pertained to Minor, due to the paucity of supporting forensic evidence.⁷ R. 499, l. 12—R. 502, l. 6; R. 510, ll. 6—R. 511, l. 19. In other words, "this evidence was even more significant" because "the case depended primarily on a credibility determination" between Appellant and Minor. State v. Grovenstein, 340 S.C. 210, 220, 530 S.E.2d 406, 412 (Ct. App. 2000) (reversing where evidence of victim's prior sexual conduct was improperly suppressed). Under such circumstances, Appellant was prejudiced by the trial court's erroneous denial of Appellant's ability to impeach Minor's credibility with the Dorchester County incident. Grovenstein, Id. 340 S.C. at 221, 530 S.E.2d at 412; see also State v. McKerley, 397 S.C. 461, 464, 725 S.E.2d 139, 141 (Ct. App. 2012) ("The assessment of witness credibility is within the exclusive province of the jury.").

⁷ Counsel also addressed other matters as well, including the cell tower location by reminding the jury that the only thing it established was "that [Appellant] was in the very part of the county where he lives and works and has family and that he called his family." R. 510, ll. 3-6.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Appellant David Louis Hayden respectfully requests reversal of his convictions, and remand for new trial.



Breen Richard Stevens
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT