RECEIVED

Jan 29 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LANCASTER COUNTY
The Honorable Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-001459

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

DAVID LOUIS HAYDEN,

Petitioner.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JERROD FUSSNECKER
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

RANDY E. NEWMAN, JR.
Solicitor, Sixth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 607
Lancaster, SC 29271
(803) 416-9367

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The trial court properly excluded hearsay evidence of Victim's purported false allegation against a third party where the Defendant failed to establish the falsity and relevance of the purported allegation.

Appellant claims the trial court erroneously prevented him from proving Victim made a false rape allegation against a third party after she accused Appellant. Appellant failed to meet the requirements of admissibility under State v. Boiter, 302 S.C. 381, 396 S.E.2d 364 (1990). Appellant's scant hearsay-based proffer did not establish a false allegation occurred, and thus the incident is irrelevant and violates the Rape Shield law. Furthermore, Appellant was not prejudiced because he aggressively attacked Victim's credibility based on a separate purported false allegation. This Court should affirm.

At trial, defense counsel sought to introduce two incidents of alleged false accusations of sexual assault, one occurring before this incident in 2017 and the other occurring after this incident in 2021. R. 29, ll. 11-13. The trial court allowed the defense to present evidence concerning the 2017 incident but denied the defense motion concerning the 2021 incident. R. 36, ll. 8-21.

The defense proffered testimony of an aunt and uncle concerning the 2017 incident but did not proffer testimony concerning the 2021 incident. Victim testified in the pretrial motion that in 2017 her uncle got into her bed in his underwear and tried to take her underwear off. R. 57, ll. 5-6. An argument ensued in which he slapped her and gave her a black eye. R. 57, ll. 14-20. Victim reported this incident to law enforcement the next day. R. 58, ll. 5-9. The uncle and aunt subsequently

terminated their parental rights to her. R. 58, ll. 9-14. Once Victim was moved to a group home, she told investigators it did not happen so they would stop questioning her about it. R. 58, ll. 5-11. Despite objection by the State, the 2017 incident was ruled admissible by the trial court. R. 36, ll. 8-9. During trial, the defense cross-examined Victim about the alleged false allegation concerning her uncle. R. 161-162. The uncle and aunt also testified concerning the false allegation during the defense case. R. 443-467.

In its pretrial motion to allow evidence concerning the alleged 2021 false allegation, the defense argued Victim and another person escaped Lowcountry Behavioral Health where they were staying. R. 30, ll. 22-25. The defense stated they met someone at a boat landing, had sexual relations with the person, and subsequently alleged they were sexually assaulted after they went back to Lowcountry Behavioral Health. R. 31, ll. 1-5. Defense based this summary of facts upon an incident report and did not call any witnesses in support of its motion. R. 34, ll. 9-12.

Boiter Analysis

Appellant failed to establish the admissibility of evidence concerning Victim's alleged subsequent false accusation. State v. Boiter established a rule allowing impeachment related to prior false allegations of sexual assault if certain elements are met. Appellant did not establish any of those elements. Thus, Appellant did not demonstrate that the 2021 incident was relevant.

Generally, “[s]pecific instances of the conduct of a witness, for the purpose of attacking or supporting the witness’ credibility, other than conviction of crime as provided in Rule 609, may not be proved by extrinsic evidence.” Rule 608(b), SCRE. However, in Boiter, the Court held that evidence of a victim’s prior false allegation of abuse may be admissible to impeach the victim’s credibility in some circumstances. The Defendant must show three elements for evidence to be relevant: 1) whether such an accusation was false; 2) remoteness in time; and 3) factual similarity between prior and present allegations. State v. Boiter, 302 S.C. 381, 383-84, 396 S.E.2d 364, 365 (1990). See also Vanover v. State, 433 S.C. 31, 41, 856 S.E.2d 160, 165 (Ct. App. 2021) (noting that in other jurisdictions, generally speaking, “prior false allegations are allowed if the allegations ‘suggest a pattern’ that casts ‘substantial doubt’ on the charges at issue”). The Boiter court explained “such evidence is admissible *only* if the court makes a threshold determination that the prior accusation was false.” Boiter, 302 S.C. at 383, 396 S.E.2d at 365 (emphasis added).

Appellant failed to establish Victim made a false allegation of rape.

The first step required to admit evidence of prior allegations under Boiter is for the defendant to establish that Victim made a false accusation of rape. See State v. Boiter, 302 S.C. at 383, 396 S.E.2d at 365 (affirming exclusion of evidence of victim’s prior accusation where “[t]he defense presented no evidence to establish its

falsity”).¹ However, the defense failed to meet its burden to establish Victim made a false accusation of rape because it simply relied on an incident report containing hearsay statements and did not present any admissible evidence the allegation was false. The defense did not call any witnesses, not even Victim. Although Appellant proffered testimony of Victim, her aunt, and her uncle regarding the 2017 incident, Appellant did not proffer any testimony supporting his claims about the 2021 incident. R. 36, ll. 18-21. Relying exclusively on the hearsay statements in the incident report, Defense did not have admissible evidence or a witness to establish the purported 2021 false allegation.

Appellant failed to show the relevance of Victim’s purported prior allegations due to remoteness in time.

Appellant also failed to demonstrate 2021 allegation was relevant in this case. Relevant evidence includes “evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. Regarding the relevancy of evidence, the trial judge has broad discretion and should only be reversed if there is clear abuse of discretion. State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. 377, 380, 401 S.E.2d 146, 148 (1991) (citing State v. Jeffcoat, 279 S.C. 167, 303

¹ Boiter does not explicitly state the evidentiary standard governing a trial court's admission of prior false allegations. If this Court deems it necessary to enunciate a standard, it should employ the same standard necessary to admit evidence of prior bad acts under Rule 404, SCRE: clear and convincing evidence. See State v. Holder, 382 S.C. 278, 293, 676 S.E.2d 690, 698 (2009) (explaining “evidence of prior bad acts that are not the subject of a conviction must be established by clear and convincing evidence”).

S.E.2d 855 (1983)). Appellant had the burden to show the facts and falsity of Victim's purported false allegation.

Boiter requires that after the trial court is satisfied that a witness made a false accusation of rape, the court must consider the "remoteness in time." Boiter, 302 S.C. at 383, 396 S.E.2d at 365. The purported 2021 allegation does not satisfy this element. Victim's allegation was remote in time from the allegation against Appellant. Victim's allegation against Appellant occurred in March 2020. However, Victim's supposed false accusation against another man occurred at an undetermined time in 2021. The alleged false accusation against another man was made after Victim's accusation against Appellant.

Hayden failed to establish factual similarity.

Additionally, Boiter requires the court to consider the "factual similarity between prior and present allegations to determine relevancy." Boiter, 302 S.C. at 384, 396 S.E.2d at 365. Again, Appellant presented no evidence to satisfy this element. Thus, the allegation is irrelevant.

Defense counsel did not prove the facts surrounding Victim's alleged subsequent accusation of sexual assault against another individual. However, even the few circumstances the defense suggested do not establish factual similarity. Hayden was a complete stranger to Victim, while Victim's relationship with the subsequent individual was not established by the defense. While Hayden brought Victim to his friends and family for her to have sex with them for money, the defense did not establish Victim received anything of value in exchange for sex with

the later individual. The record contains practically no information about the specific allegation Victim made against the man in Dorchester County. Without anything to support Appellant's claims, it is impossible to address the factual similarity between these purported allegations and the allegations against Appellant. As such, Hayden has failed to establish this element of Boiter.

Rape Shield Statute

Because Appellant failed to establish the facts and falsity of the purported 2021 allegation, its admission would also violate the Rape Shield law, which provides that "[e]vidence of specific instances of the victim's sexual conduct, opinion evidence of the victim's sexual conduct, and reputation evidence of the victim's sexual conduct is not admissible in prosecutions" for criminal sexual conduct under S.C. Code 16-3-652. S.C. Code §16-3-659.1(1). It "d[oes] not bar evidence of a victim's sexual conduct if the evidence [i]s offered for a purpose other than to attack the victim's morality." State v. Grovenstein, 340 S.C. 210, 216, 530 S.E.2d 406, 409 (Ct. App. 2000) (quoting State v. Lang, 304 S.C. 300, 301, 403 S.E.2d 677, 678 (Ct. App. 1991)). The "state's interest in protecting criminal sexual conduct victims is stronger than the right of a defendant to attack such a victim's character in a manner that has limited or no relevance to the question of guilt." State v. Finley, 300 S.C. 196, 201, 387 S.E.2d 88, 90 (1989).

Appellant did not evidentiarily establish there was a 2021 incident, much less what the specific facts were. His presentation of a single incident report containing only hearsay did not prove anything. Thus, introduction of the 2021

accusation would have only served to attack Victim's morality and character by introducing evidence of another sexual encounter. Appellant has not established the facts of the incident, and he cannot "attack such a victim's character in a manner that has limited or no relevance to the question of guilt." Finley, 300 S.C. at 201, 387 S.E.2d at 90.

Appellant was not prejudiced.

Appellant did not suffer any prejudice from the trial court's exclusion of the 2021 incident. Defense was allowed to present evidence concerning the alleged false allegation concerning the Victim's uncle to challenge Victim's credibility. The 2017 allegation was introduced by Appellant for impeachment of her credibility, and addressed in his cross-examination of Victim, direct examination of Victim's uncle, direct examination of Victim's aunt, and closing argument. Accordingly, even if the trial court somehow erred in excluding Victim's subsequent accusation, Appellant suffered no prejudice because he was able to call Victim's credibility into question using the admitted 2017 accusation. See State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 448, 710 S.E.2d 55, 60 (2011) ("Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.").

Additionally, the State presented independent evidence to corroborate much of Victim's testimony. Specifically, the State called Appellant's brothers who were also charged in this case, Christopher and Michael Hayden.

Christopher Hayden corroborated Victim's testimony on various points: the trailer Appellant took her to was Christopher's trailer, the trailer had no water or

electricity, Appellant and Victim were at the trailer together, Christopher was in his room alone with Victim, Victim used his phone, and he gave her money. R. 187, ll. 20-22; R. 197, ll. 20-23; R. 199, ll. 19-20; R. 205, ll. 12-23; R. 208, ll. 4-5.

Furthermore, in an interview video shown to the jury, Christopher admitted to investigators in June 2020 that he had sex with Victim as well, a fact that he denied at trial. R. 206, l. 15-R. 207, l. 14.

Michael Hayden also corroborated parts of Victim's testimony. He testified that he saw Victim in the trailer, Victim told him she was a runaway, there was beer, liquor, and marijuana at the trailer, and Appellant picked her up the next morning. R. 234, l. 23; R. 242, l. 4; R. 245, ll. 15-16; R. 246, ll. 6-8. In an interview video shown to the jury, Michael told investigators in June 2020 that Appellant had sex with Victim in the trailer. R. 240, ll. 5-17. Accordingly the State's case was strong and Appellant was not prejudiced by the exclusion of the 2021 allegation.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully asks that this Court affirm the conviction and sentence of the lower court.